1	NTHE	N	JEVADA	S	UPREME	$\mathbf{C}$	URT

Evaristo Jonathan Garcia,

Electronically Filed May 03 2021 05:39 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

 $\mathbf{v}$ .

#### James Dzurenda, et al.,

Respondents.

On Appeal from the Order Denying Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Eighth Judicial District, Clark County (Case No. A-19-791171-W) Honorable David M. Jones, District Court Judge

### Petitioner-Appellant's Opening Brief

Rene L. Valladares
Federal Public Defender,
District of Nevada
\*Emma L. Smith
Amelia L. Bizarro
Assistant Federal Public Defenders
411 E. Bonneville Ave., Ste. 250
Las Vegas, Nevada 89101
(702) 388-6577
Emma\_Smith@fd.org

#### JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from the final order denying Evaristo Garcia's petition for writ of habeas corpus, which was filed March 14, 2019. The court filed the Notice of Entry of Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order on January 22, 2021. Garcia timely filed a notice of appeal on February 2, 2021.

This Court has jurisdiction under Nevada Revised Statute. § 34.575.

#### ROUTING STATEMENT

Because this post-conviction appeal involves a conviction for second-degree murder, a Category A felony, the appeal falls into a category of cases presumptively assigned to this Court. See Nev. R. App. P. 17(b)(3). This Court should retain jurisdiction because this case involves important issues regarding, among other things, what the State's obligations are under Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963), when a school police department conducts investigation and whether Brady includes a diligence requirement for the defense.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> VIII.App.1669–98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> X.App.2217–37.

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Evaristo Garcia was convicted of crimes arising from a shooting at a school. Clark County School District Police Department ("CCSDPD") officers were the first to respond to the scene. School police conducted some investigation before the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department ("LVMPD") took over the case. This investigation included gathering a description of the shooter from campus monitor Betty Graves as well as stopping a suspect and asking Graves if he was the shooter. The school officers authored reports.

The State did not disclose the CCSDPD reports to the defense before trial, violating their obligation under *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83 (1963). The reports show that Graves gave a previously unknown description of the shooter that was inconsistent with her later descriptions. Armed with this information, the defense could have impeached Graves at trial based on the unreliability of her memory of the shooter to combat the State's presentation of her as a disinterested, reliable witness. The key part of her testimony was her affirmative exclusion of a suspect in the case, Giovanni Garcia, as the shooter. Other evidence pointed to Giovanni as the most likely alternate suspect.

Therefore, if the defense had the CCSDPD reports, they could have impeached Graves's exclusion of Giovanni as the shooter, making the defense that he was the shooter viable.

Garcia raised a *Brady* claim in a successive post-conviction petition, filed shortly after he found the hidden evidence, arguing he could overcome any default because the State suppressed material evidence. After an evidentiary hearing, the district court denied Garcia's petition in a minute order that contained no reasoning. The State prepared an order, which the court adopted. After a motion by Garcia, the court ruled that it would write its own order. However, the final order by the court is materially indistinguishable from the order drafted by the State.

The issues on appeal are:

- 1. Did Garcia establish cause and prejudice to overcome any procedural bars upon proving at an evidentiary hearing that the State suppressed material evidence related to the impeachment of one of its key witnesses at trial?
- 2. Did the State violate its Brady obligations when it failed to disclose favorable police reports drafted by the Clark County School

District Police Department that would have impeached a key witness at trial?

3. Can the district court properly adopt a State-drafted order as its own after providing no explanation of its denial of a post-conviction petition, including findings of fact following an evidentiary hearing?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Garcia's six-day jury trial started July 8, 2013, at which he was represented by Ross Goodman and Dayvid Figler.<sup>3</sup> The Fourth Amended Indictment, filed in open court on July 12, 2013, charged Garcia with Conspiracy to Commit Murder (Count 1) and Murder with Use of a Deadly Weapon (Count 2).<sup>4</sup> The jury found Garcia not guilty of conspiracy but guilty of second-degree murder.<sup>5</sup> The court sentenced him to ten years to life plus an equal and consecutive ten years to life.<sup>6</sup>

After Garcia appealed, this Court affirmed his conviction.<sup>7</sup> Garcia filed a pro se post-conviction petition raising four grounds:

- 1. Counsel was ineffective at trial for failing to adequately investigate witness Edshell Cavillo.
- 2. Counsel was ineffective for allowing illegal sentencing.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See II.App.182–453; III.App.454–745; IV.App.746–993; VI.App.997–1330; VII.App.1367–1489.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> V.App.994–96. The State originally included a gang enhancement for both counts, but it was dropped in this fourth and final indictment. *See* VII.App.1504 (discussing gang enhancement).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> VII.App.1490–91.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> VII.App.1492–93.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See VIII.App.1646–52, 1654–58.

- 3. Counsel was ineffective for failing to ask for a new trial or mistrial.
- 4. Ineffective assistance of appellate counsel.8

The district court denied his petition on October 25, 2016.<sup>9</sup> On appeal, Garcia, once again proceeding pro se, raised the same four issues.<sup>10</sup> The case was transferred to Nevada's Court of Appeals, which affirmed.<sup>11</sup>

Garcia mailed a pro se habeas petition under 28 U.S.C. § 2254 to the federal district court on December 13, 2017. The court appointed the Federal Public Defender to represent Garcia. Garcia moved to stay the proceedings so he could return to state court. The federal district

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> VIII.App.1594–1606.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> VIII.App.1630–39.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> VIII.App.1646–52.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> VIII.App.1653–58.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> ECF No. 1-1. Garcia cites to documents filed in federal district court case, *Garcia v. Nevada Department of Corrections*, No. 2:17-cv-03095 (D. Nev.), by their ECF number. The Court should take judicial notice of these documents, which are from a federal case challenging the criminal conviction at issue in this appeal. *See Mack v. Estate of Mack*, 125 Nev. 80, 91–92, 206 P.3d 98, 106 (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> ECF No. 9.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> ECF No. 24.

court granted Garcia's request on April 4, 2019. 15

Garcia filed a successive post-conviction petition in the Eighth Judicial District Court on March 14, 2019. After the State's Response and Garcia's Reply, the court denied Garcia's petition on November 15, 2019. The court ruled the petition was time barred and the CCSDPD reports were not exculpatory. Garcia filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment pursuant to Nevada Rule of Civil Procedure 59(e). After argument, the court granted the motion and ordered an evidentiary hearing on Garcia's *Brady* claim.

The evidentiary hearing was held September 21, 2020. Garcia presented testimony from Robert Morales, a former lieutenant at the CCSDPD, trial counsel Dayvid Figler, and Dr. Kathy Pezdek, an

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> ECF No. 26.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> VIII.App.1669–98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> VIII.App.1705–23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> VIII.App.1729–46.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> VIII.App.1766–69.

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$  *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> VIII.App.1773–78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> IX.App.1829–45.

eyewitness identification expert. The State did not call any witnesses. At the end of the hearing, the court took the issue under advisement.<sup>23</sup>

On September 30, 2020 at 3 a.m., the court entered a minute order denying the petition, which contained no reasoning<sup>24</sup> Garcia followed with a motion for the court to prepare and file its own order.<sup>25</sup> Approximately one month later, the court filed a Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order prepared by the State,<sup>26</sup> which it refiled on December 2, 2020.<sup>27</sup> The court heard argument on Garcia's motion to have the court prepare its own order on December 15, 2020, and granted the motion.<sup>28</sup> The court filed a new Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order on January 20, 2021, which was nearly identical to the State's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> X.App.2024–2149.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> X.App.2150. The total substance of the order read: "Upon review of the documentation provided, and input from counsel, this Court has DENIED Petitioner's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction)[.] State is to prepare order."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> X.App.2151–62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> X.App.2163–84.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> X.App.2191–2214.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> X.App.2186–90, 2215–16.

original order.<sup>29</sup> The court ruled that Garcia's petition was time barred and successive.<sup>30</sup> Garcia timely appealed.<sup>31</sup>

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case arose out of a shooting at a night school, Morris Sunset Academy. Because of the location and gravity of the offense, two police departments were involved: first the CCSDPD, then the LVMPD. Before trial, the State provided the defense police reports from only the LVMPD, not from the CCSDPD.<sup>32</sup>

Testimony at trial established a fight occurred in front of Morris Sunset Academy at the end of the school day on February 6, 2006, at about 8:30 p.m.<sup>33</sup> Leading up to the fight, Giovanni Garcia, a member of the Puros Locos gang, and Crystal Perez, who was friends with members of Brown Pride gang, had been arguing.<sup>34</sup> At the end of the fight, Victor

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> X.App.2217–37.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> X.App.2238–40.

 $<sup>^{32}</sup>$  See, e.g., VIII. App.1668  $\P$  5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> III.App.547–49.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> II.App.312–21; III.App.594, 600, 616–24, 627–29.

Gamboa was shot. $^{35}$  A police officer testified the description of the shooter was of a Hispanic male around nineteen years old who was wearing a gray hoodie. $^{36}$ 

Betty Graves, a campus monitor, testified that when school let out, there were about twenty kids standing in the front of the school.<sup>37</sup> She observed one who was "the strangest looking young man because he was standing right in front [of] me, and he had on a gray hoody, and all the time he's standing there, he had his right hand in his pocket."<sup>38</sup> She observed this young man start to fight, but he would not take his hand out of his pocket.<sup>39</sup> She told her fellow campus monitor she believed he had a gun.<sup>40</sup> She described him as nineteen or twenty, Hispanic, and with "little black hair." She stated the hood of his hoodie was up.<sup>41</sup> Graves testified she did not see the shooting, but assumed the young man she

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> See II.App.185.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> V.App.1100.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> III.App.575.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> III.App.576.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> III.App.576–77.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> III.App.577–78.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> III.App.578–79.

was observing was the shooter.<sup>42</sup> She further testified Giovanni was not the shooter.<sup>43</sup>

The defense argued at trial that Garcia had been wrongly identified as the shooter by members of Puros Locos to cover up the involvement of gang members. <sup>44</sup> Salvador Garcia, Giovanni's brother, was the head of the Puros Locos gang. <sup>45</sup> Garcia was not a member. <sup>46</sup>

At trial, only a single witness identified Garcia as the shooter—Jonathan Harper, a member of Puros Locos. 47 According to Harper, on the day of the shooting, he and a group, including Garcia, were at Salvador's apartment. After a call from Giovanni, Salvador told them they were going to the school for a fight. 48 Harper testified he saw Manuel Lopez, another gang member, hand Garcia a gun. 49 Harper testified he

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> III.App.580.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> III.App.584.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup> See VII.App.1414–22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> III.App.465; *see* II.App.193.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> III.App.478.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> IV.App.750.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> IV.App.755–59.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> IV.App.760.

saw Garcia shoot the victim multiple times.<sup>50</sup> Harper testified after the shooting, he returned to Salvador's apartment where Garcia said "I got him."<sup>51</sup> Harper claimed Garcia was wearing a gray hoodie.<sup>52</sup>

Harper was not a disinterested witness. After the shooting at Morris Sunset, Salvador shot Harper in the head.<sup>53</sup> Harper suffered brain damage as a result.<sup>54</sup> Harper did not tell police Garcia was at Salvador's house the day of the school shooting until police interviewed him in connection with his own shooting, about five weeks after he was shot.<sup>55</sup> It was only after Harper's interview that the police focused on Garcia as the shooter,<sup>56</sup> and it was Harper who supplied them Garcia's name.<sup>57</sup>

Moreover, Harper's testimony was not consistent. Harper testified differently at Garcia's trial than he did at the preliminary hearing in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> IV.App.766.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> IV.App.766–67.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> IV.App.762.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> See IV.App.799.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> See V.App.1234-47.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> IV.App. 774, 776–77, 791, 796–97.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> IV.App.874.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> V.App.1108.

Important respects. At the preliminary hearing, he did not say he saw Lopez hand Garcia the gun and testified Garcia was wearing a top with black sleeves, not a gray hoodie.<sup>58</sup> Further, he testified before the grand jury that he did not see who the shooter was. He did not testify Garcia was at Salvador's apartment and stated he did not speak to Garcia after the shooting.<sup>59</sup>

Additionally, Harper testified at Garcia's trial he had been promised he would not be prosecuted if he testified<sup>60</sup> and told members of the defense team he was sick of the prosecution putting words in his mouth.<sup>61</sup> Finally, the forensic evidence showed the victim was shot once. He was not shot additional times at close range,<sup>62</sup> despite Harper's testimony he saw Garcia shoot Gamboa several times.

Only two other witnesses implicated Garcia directly. First, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> IV.App.778–79, 781.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> IV.App.787, 790.

<sup>60</sup> IV.App.797-98, 800-01.

<sup>61</sup> IV.App.806.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> IV.App.851–52.

victim's sister, Melissa Gamboa, testified she saw the shooting.<sup>63</sup> She had previously identified Garcia in court,<sup>64</sup> but could not identify Garcia as the shooter during trial.<sup>65</sup> At the preliminary hearing she agreed her description of the shooter did not match Garcia.<sup>66</sup> And she could not pick Garcia out of a photographic lineup.<sup>67</sup>

The second witness was Edshell Cavillo, another member of Puros Locos.<sup>68</sup> He testified he was at Salvador's house the night of the shooting with friends, including Garcia, when Giovanni called and told them members of another gang were waiting for him after school.<sup>69</sup> The group left Salvador's house and headed to the school.<sup>70</sup> Cavillo testified that before leaving, he saw Lopez with a gun; he then saw Garcia with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> III.App.651.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> III.App.655.

<sup>65</sup> *Id*.

<sup>66</sup> III.App.673–74.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> V.App.1139.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> See II.App.335.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> II.App.352, 355–5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> II.App.357.

same gun.<sup>71</sup> When Cavillo arrived at the school, he heard gunshots. He did not see the shooting.<sup>72</sup> Cavillo testified he went back to Salvador's house, as did Garcia.<sup>73</sup> According to Cavillo, Garcia said he thought he had shot someone.<sup>74</sup>

However, Cavillo told different versions of when Garcia made incriminating statements and also was inconsistent about whether he had in fact heard Garcia make the statements or if he had been told about them by Harper and Giovanni. The Importantly, Cavillo had previously lied at Salvador's behest when he gave false information about who shot Harper in order to protect the gang. In this case, Cavillo did not tell the police anything about Garcia's involvement in his first statement to police; he provided this information after Giovanni had been arrested.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> II.App.359–61.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> II.App.361–62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> II.App.363–64.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> II.App.365.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> See II.App.365–67; III.App.492, 501, 512.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> III.App.475–76.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> III.App.477; V.App.1112.

This was over five months after the incident.<sup>78</sup> Cavillo testified that at the time of the shooting, fellow gang members like Salvador were "like family."<sup>79</sup> At the time of Garcia's trial, however, Cavillo testified he was afraid of Salvador.<sup>80</sup>

Turning to the physical evidence presented at Garcia's trial, the gun the State argued was used in the shooting was recovered from a toilet at a construction site<sup>81</sup> where Lopez had previously worked.<sup>82</sup> Lopez tried to go back and get the gun after police had seized it.<sup>83</sup> He acknowledged the gun was his.<sup>84</sup>

Garcia's fingerprints and palm print were found on the gun.<sup>85</sup> Several people, including Garcia, had previously played with the gun

 $<sup>^{78}</sup>$  See VII. App.1420.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> II.App.377; III.App.460.

<sup>80</sup> III.App.509–10.

<sup>81</sup> II.App.289; III.App.696–98.

<sup>82</sup> IV.App.906; V.App.1134.

<sup>83</sup> V.App.1135.

<sup>84</sup> V.App.1133.

<sup>85</sup> See V.App.1162–1220.

while at Salvador's house.<sup>86</sup> Although Garcia's right ring fingerprint was found on the gun, its placement was in an unusual spot, on the top of the grip.<sup>87</sup> The part of the grip that would have been held by the shooter, the textured part, did not yield any fingerprints.<sup>88</sup> Additionally, Garcia was excluded for the fingerprint taken from the toilet where the gun was stashed.<sup>89</sup>

No one from the CCSDPD testified at Garcia's trial. And no one else testified about CCSDPD's investigation before LVMPD took over.

After the Federal Public Defender was appointed to the case, it received reports from the CCSDPD.<sup>90</sup> First, the CCSDPD provided Officer Arambula's report, which revealed he was the "closest officer to the scene" and "responded and assisted in looking for the suspect" shooter.<sup>91</sup> In the course of that search, Officer Arambula "observed a Hispanic Juvenile" he described as "matching the description given by

<sup>86</sup> III.App.502; see II.App.201-02.

<sup>87</sup> V.App.1196, 1210.

<sup>88</sup> V.App.1213.

<sup>89</sup> V.App.1199.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup>See I.App.27–34.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> I.App.32.

dispatch" near the scene of the school shooting.92

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