IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Electronically Filed Jul 02 2021 08:57 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

EVARISTO JONATHAN GARCIA,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Case No. 80255

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Denial of Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction) Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court appropriately denied Appellant's Petition. First, the district court properly found that Appellant's claims were procedurally barred. Second, Appellant did not establish good cause and prejudice to overcome the procedural bars through his <u>Brady</u> claim. Finally, the district court did not err in the Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order it filed. Therefore, this Court should affirm the district court's denial of Appellant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus (Post-Conviction).

///

ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT APPROPRIATELY FOUND THAT APPELLANT'S CLAIMS WERE PROCEDURALLY BARRED

A. The Petition is Time-Barred

Appellant's Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus is time barred with no good cause shown for delay. Pursuant to NRS 34.726(1):

Unless there is good cause shown for delay, a petition that challenges the validity of a judgment or sentence must be filed within 1 year of the entry of the judgment of conviction or, if an appeal has been taken from the judgment, within 1 year after the Supreme Court issues its remittitur. For the purposes of this subsection, good cause for delay exists if the petitioner demonstrates to the satisfaction of the court:

- (a) That the delay is not the fault of the petitioner; and
- (b) That dismissal of the petition as untimely will unduly prejudice the petitioner.

This Court has held that NRS 34.726 should be construed by its plain meaning. Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 873-74, 34 P.3d 519, 528 (2001). As per the language of the statute, the one-year time bar proscribed by NRS 34.726 begins to run from the date the judgment of conviction is filed or a remittitur from a timely direct appeal is filed. Dickerson v. State, 114 Nev. 1084, 1087, 967 P.2d 1132, 1133-34 (1998).

The one-year time limit for preparing petitions for post-conviction relief under NRS 34.726 is strictly applied. In <u>Gonzales v. State</u>, 118 Nev. 590, 596, 53 P.3d 901, 904 (2002), the Court rejected a habeas petition that was filed two days late despite

evidence presented by the defendant that he purchased postage through the prison and mailed the Notice within the one-year time limit.

Furthermore, this Court has held that the district court has a duty to consider whether a defendant's post-conviction petition claims are procedurally barred. State v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court (Riker), 121 Nev. 225, 231, 112 P.3d 1070, 1074 (2005). The Riker Court found that "[a]pplication of the statutory procedural default rules to post-conviction habeas petitions is mandatory," noting:

Habeas corpus petitions that are filed many years after conviction are an unreasonable burden on the criminal justice system. The necessity for a workable system dictates that there must exist a time when a criminal conviction is final.

Id. Additionally, the Court noted that procedural bars "cannot be ignored [by the district court] when properly raised by the State." Id. at 233, 112 P.3d at 1075. The Court has granted no discretion to the district courts regarding whether to apply the statutory procedural bars; the rules must be applied.

In the instant case, the Judgment of Conviction was filed on September 11, 2013, and Appellant filed a direct appeal on October 11, 2013. VIIAA1492,1494-95. Appellant's conviction was affirmed, and remittitur issued on October 20, 2015. VIIIAA1586-93. Thus, the one-year time bar began to run from the date remittitur issued. The Petition was not filed until March 14, 2019. VIIIAA1669-1704. This is over three (3) years after remittitur issued and in excess of the one-year time frame. Accordingly, the district court properly found that absent a showing of good cause

for this delay and undue prejudice, Appellant's claim had to be dismissed because of its tardy filing.

B. Appellant's Petition was Successive

Appellant's Petition is procedurally barred because it is successive. NRS 34.810(2) reads:

A second or successive petition must be dismissed if the judge or justice determines that it fails to allege new or different grounds for relief and that the prior determination was on the merits or, if new and different grounds are alleged, the judge or justice finds that the failure of the petitioner to assert those grounds in a prior petition constituted an abuse of the writ.

(emphasis added). Second or successive petitions are petitions that either fail to allege new or different grounds for relief and the grounds have already been decided on the merits or that allege new or different grounds, but a judge or justice finds that the petitioner's failure to assert those grounds in a prior petition would constitute an abuse of the writ. Second or successive petitions will only be decided on the merits if the petitioner can show good cause and prejudice. NRS 34.810(3); Lozada v. State, 110 Nev. 349, 358, 871 P.2d 944, 950 (1994).

This Court has stated: "Without such limitations on the availability of postconviction remedies, prisoners could petition for relief in perpetuity and thus abuse post-conviction remedies. In addition, meritless, successive and untimely petitions clog the court system and undermine the finality of convictions." Lozada, 110 Nev. at 358, 871 P.2d at 950. The Court recognizes that "[u]nlike initial petitions which certainly require a careful review of the record, successive petitions may be dismissed based solely on the face of the petition." Ford v. Warden, 111 Nev. 872, 882, 901 P.2d 123, 129 (1995). In other words, if the claim or allegation was previously available with reasonable diligence, it is an abuse of the writ to wait to assert it in a later petition. McClesky v. Zant, 499 U.S. 467, 497-498 (1991). Application of NRS 34.810(2) is mandatory. See Riker, 121 Nev. at 231, 112 P.3d at 1074.

Appellant filed his first Petition for Writ of Habeas Corpus on June 10, 2016. VIIIAA1594-1610. On September 29, 2016, the first Petition was denied. VIIIAA1627-29. The district court entered its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order on October 25, 2016. VIIIAA1631-39. On October 13, 2016 and November 16, 2016, Appellant filed Notices of Appeal. VIIIAA1640-43; XAA2220. On May 16, 2017, the Nevada Court of Appeals affirmed the Court's denial of Appellant's first Petition and remittitur issued on June 12, 2017. VIIIAA1654-60. As this Petition is successive, pursuant to NRS 34.810(2), the district court properly found that it could not be decided on the merits absent a showing of good cause and prejudice. NRS 34.810(3).

///

///

II. THE DISTRICT COURT APPROPRIATELY **FOUND** THAT APPELLANT FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE GOOD CAUSE AND PREJUDICE TO OVERCOME THE PROCEDURAL BARS

Appellant argues that the district court erroneously found that he failed to demonstrate good cause and prejudice via his Brady claim, whereby he alleged that the State failed to disclose CCSDPD report. AOB at 17-51.

A showing of good cause and prejudice may overcome procedural bars. "To establish good cause, Petitioners must show that an impediment external to the defense prevented their compliance with the applicable procedural rule. A qualifying impediment might be shown where the factual or legal basis for a claim was not reasonably available at the time of default." Clem v. State, 119 Nev. 615, 621, 81 P.3d 521, 525 (2003) (emphasis added). The Court continued, "Petitioners cannot attempt to manufacture good cause[.]" Id. at 621, 81 P.3d at 526. In order to establish prejudice, the Petitioner must show "not merely that the errors of [the proceedings] created possibility of prejudice, but that they worked to his actual and substantial disadvantage, in affecting the state proceedings with error of constitutional dimensions." Hogan v. Warden, 109 Nev. 952, 960, 860 P.2d 710, 716 (1993) (quoting United States v. Frady, 456 U.S. 152, 170, 102 S. Ct. 1584, 1596 (1982)). To find good cause there must be a "substantial reason; one that affords a legal excuse." Hathaway v. State, 119 Nev. 248, 252, 71 P.3d 503, 506 (2003) (quoting Colley v. State, 105 Nev. 235, 236, 773 P.2d 1229, 1230 (1989)). Clearly, any delay in the filing of the petition must not be the fault of the petitioner. NRS 34.726(1)(a).

A. The District Court Appropriately Found That the Information Contained in the CCSDPD Report Was Neither Favorable Nor Material

Appellant argues that he demonstrated prejudice to overcome the procedural bars because he proved the materiality of the information contained in the CCSDPD report. AOB at 34-51. Additionally, he argues that the district court conflated its materiality and favorability reasoning and failed to make a separate finding regarding favorability. AOB at 49-51. Thus, he claims the district court erred. AOB at 34-51. Despite Appellant's argument, the district court appropriately found that Appellant failed to demonstrate prejudice and properly found that the information contained in the CCSDPD report was neither favorable, nor material.

It is well-settled that Brady and its progeny require a prosecutor to disclose evidence favorable to the defense when that evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment. See Mazzan v. Warden, 116 Nev. 48, 66, 993 P.2d 25 (2000); Jimenez v. State, 112 Nev. 610, 618-19, 918 P.2d 687 (1996). "[T]here are three components to a Brady violation: (1) the evidence at issue is favorable to the accused; (2) the evidence was withheld by the state either intentionally or inadvertently; and (3) prejudice ensued, i.e., the evidence was material." Mazzan, 116 Nev. at 67. "Where the state fails to provide evidence which the defense did not request or requested generally, it is constitutional error if the omitted evidence creates a reasonable doubt which did not otherwise exist. In other words, evidence is material if there is a reasonable probability that the result would have been different if the evidence had been disclosed." Id. at 66 (internal citations omitted). "In Nevada, after a specific request for evidence, a Brady violation is material if there is a reasonable *possibility* that the omitted evidence would have affected the outcome. Id. (original emphasis) (citing Jimenez, 112 Nev. at 618-19, 918 P.2d at 692; Roberts v. State, 110 Nev. 1121, 1132, 881 P.2d 1, 8 (1994).

"The mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information might have helped the defense, or might have affected the outcome of the trial, does not establish 'materiality' in the constitutional sense." United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 108 96 S. Ct. 2392, 2399-400 (1976). Favorable evidence is material, and constitutional error results, "if there is a reasonable probability that the result of the proceeding would have been different." Kyles, 514 U.S. at 433-34, 115 S. Ct. at 1565 (citing United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667, 682 105 S. Ct. 3375, 3383 (1985)). A reasonable probability is shown when the nondisclosure undermines confidence in the outcome of the trial. Kyles, 514 U.S. at 434, 115 S. Ct. 1565. Appellant is unable to demonstrate prejudice and thus his claim fails.

Further, in Evans v. State, 117 Nev. 609, 625-27, 28 P.3d 498, 510-11 (2001), overruled on other grounds by Lisle v. State, 131 Nev. 356, 366 n.5, 351 P.3d 725, 732 n.5 (2015), the defendant, on appeal, argued that the State had the obligation to continue investigating alternate suspects of the crime, and speculated the State had evidence one of the victims had been an informant previously, which would have

demonstrated others had motive to kill her. <u>Id.</u> at 626, 28 P.3d at 510-11. The Court found that the defendant had not demonstrated that such an investigation would have led to exculpatory information. <u>Id.</u> at 626, 28 P.3d at 510. To undermine confidence in a trial's outcome, a defendant would have to allege the nondisclosure of specific information that not only linked alternate suspects to the crime, but also indicate the defendant was not involved. <u>Id.</u> at 626, 28 P.3d at 510. Further, the Court found that the victim's mere acting as an informant, without at least some evidence that she had received actual threats against her, would not implicate the State's affirmative duty to disclose potentially exculpatory information to the defense because such information must be material. Id. at 627, 28 P.3d at 511.

As a preliminary matter, Appellant seems to attempt to mislead this Court and argue that there were multiple reports that were suppressed referencing statements by Graves: "the suppressed reports reveal she gave a prior inconsistent statement..." AOB at 35. However, the only report at issue was a report authored by CCSDPD Officer A. Gaspardi, which contained information that was neither favorable, nor material to Appellant. IAA31.

The CCSDPD police report indicates an individual by the name of Jose Bonal, a student from a different school, was stopped on a different street nearby. IAA31. Bonal was stopped for approximately fourteen (14) minutes while Betty Graves was brought to make an identification. IAA31. The report indicated Graves had seen the

fight and the shooting and she would be able to identify the suspect. IAA31. However, Graves did a show-up and definitively stated that Bonal was not the shooter. IAA31. Further, Graves also stated she witnessed the fight and did not identify Bonal as a participant in the fight. IAA31.

The fact that another young Hispanic male was stopped in the area, and then definitively excluded as the shooter by an eyewitness, is neither exculpatory nor material. To undermine confidence in a trial's outcome, Appellant would need to demonstrate this report linked Bonal to the crime and indicated Appellant was not involved. Evans, 117 Nev. at 626, 28 P.3d at 510. Appellant has merely demonstrated that a report existed which definitively stated Bonal was not the shooter. Accordingly, this evidence only suggests "[t]he mere possibility that an item of undisclosed information might have helped the defense or might have affected the outcome of the trial..." Agurs, 427 U.S. at 108, 96 S. Ct. at 2399-400. Moreover, Appellant presented four (4) alternate suspects to the jury at the time of trial— Giovanny Garcia, Salvatore Garcia, Manuel Lopez, and Edshel Calvillo. Merely adding a fifth alternate suspect would not have made it less likely the jury would find Appellant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

More importantly, Appellant spent nine (9) pages of his Opening Brief asserting irrelevant information regarding Giovanny as an alternate suspect to this Court. Indeed, while Graves did provide a description of the shooter in the report,

Graves did not identify Appellant as the individual that shot the victim in the report, and in fact, never identified the suspect she saw shoot the victim. IAA31. Indeed, testimony was elicited at trial that Graves could not make an identification because she was "old and forgot stuff." XAA2086. Accordingly, even if Appellant had the CCSDPD report that discussed Graves' description of the shooter, accurate or not, Graves had already been impeached through her own admission that due to her age she was forgetful. Thus, despite Appellant's attempt to imply otherwise, Giovanny was not mentioned in the CCSDPD report and therefore, the relevance of Appellant's argument about Giovanny is questionable. Accordingly, the report provided no information that would have been favorable or material for the defense. To the extent Appellant argues that the district court ignored Appellant's materiality argument, his argument is belied by the record. Hargrove v. State, 100 Nev. 498, 502, 686 P.2d 222, 225 (1984).

At the evidentiary hearing, Appellant's expert, Dr. Kathy Pezdek, testified that she could not determine for a fact whether an eyewitness identification factor affected Graves' testimony and, therefore, she could not apply her research to Graves or Appellant's case specifically.⁵ XAA2065-66. In fact, Dr. Pezdek never testified to a reasonable degree of medical or psychiatric certainty or even probability that

⁵To the extent Appellant argues that the findings related to Dr. Pezdek were misrepresentations, the State argues such assertions are not misrepresentations and are supported by the record.

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